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la comunidad judia
de la Barcelona medieval

La presencia de judios en Barcelona esta documen
lesde antes de la existencia del barrio judio en
la ciudad,

auncue se desconoce si ya constituian

una comunidad. Hacia el ano 850, el gaon Amran

le una academia rabinica en Sura (-i;‘iiﬂ’)]..Jl}jFiEl)f

envia una carta a de Barcelona. En el ano

los i
yario entre Carlos
I

Frodoi diez libras de plata para reparar su iglesia.

877, el judio Judacot hat

1lvo y los barcelone y entrega al obispo

170r a Barcelona (ano 985) mue

ren varios judios y las propiedades de los gue no
tenian herederos pasan a manos del conde.

En el asalto de Alms

Los Usatges de Barcelona (1053-1071) incluyen
algunas disposiciones referentes a los judios. La pri-
mera noticia documental de un barrio judio en
Barcelona data del siglo x1, cuando se menciona una
calle que solebat ire ad callem judaicum,

L.a palabra call significa «calle pequena» o «callejon.
El nombre se extendio a fodo el conjunto de calles
ocupadas por los judios, es decir, al barrio judio, y la
gomunidad de judios recibio el nombre de aljama.

Las autoridades municipales no tenian ninguna
jurisdiccion sobre el Call, cque dependia directamen-
te del rey o del baile real, pero ya a partir del siglo xiv

trictivas para los judios,

dictaron ordenanzas res
referidas solo a situaciones o actuaciones fuera del
barrio del Call.
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medieval Barcelona’s
Jewish community

Before the Jewish quarter came to exist, it is on record
that there were Jews in Barcelona, although it is not
known whether they already formed a community:.
Towards the year 850, the gaon Amram, head of the
rabbinic academy of Sura (Babylonia), sent a letter to
the Jews of Barcelona. In 877 the Jew called Judacot
acted as the emissary between Charles the Bald and the
Barcelonans, delivering ten pounds of silver to Bishop
Prodoi for the repair of his church. Jews were among
the dead in Al-Mansur’s assault on Barcelona (year 985)
and the properties of those who had no heirs passed
into the hands of the count,

The Usatges (Usages) of Barcelona (1053-107 1) inelude
some provisions relating to Jews. The first documentary
record of a Jewish quarter in Barcelona dates from the
1lith eentury, mentioning a street that solebat ire ad
eallem judaicunt,

The word call means “little street” or “alley”. This
name came to extend itself to the whole set of streets
oceupied by the Jews, that is to say, the Jewish quarter,
and the community of Jews was called the aljama.

The municipal authorities had no jurisdiction whatse-
ever over the Call, which was under the direct autho-
rity of the king or the royal bailiff, although alrcady
from the 14th century there were enacted ordinances
that were restrictive for Jews, relating only to situations
or actions outside the Call.
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Fragmento de una lampara de pie miltiple con figura antropomorfa esquematica
y fragmento de una khanukiyya, ldampara ritual. Siglo xm

Objetos procedentes de excavaciones arqueoldgicas realizadas en la calle de Sant
Honorat, donde se han encontrado objetos propios de la comunidad judia junto
con otros comunes de la época,

Fragment of a lamp with multiple [eet, decorated with a schematice
anthropomorphous figure and fragment of a hanukivycah ritual lamp. 13th century
Picces from archacological excavations carried out at Carrer de Sant Honorat, where
ohjects belonging specifically to the Jewish community have been found, together
with others from the common culture of the times.

The aljoma’s internal organisation was established by the Jews
themselves, whose self-government was confirmed by royal privilege.
The community was ruled by an oligarchic regime, formed by the
community’s rich and learned members; the leaders were called
seeretarii or neemanim. A council of ten members, based on the
model of Barcelona’s municipal government, supervised the
governance of the seeretarii and watched over the executive body.
Each community had the authority to enact ordinances (tagganot),
which were regulations established to rule the religious, cconomic,
social, educational, ethical and community life of its members.

Within the Call, the Jewish community lived according to the
Hebrew religious calendar of lunar eyeles, observing the Sabbath
and the traditional festivities. The religious, civil and penal laws,
as well as customs, were regulated by the Torah. Likewise, in the
Call of Barcelona there was a Talmudic school. It was also in the
Call that the Jews unfolded their own culture and created masterpieces
that would come to form part of universal Jewish literature.

The ordinances enacted by the aljema were often confirmed by
the monarchs. The direction of religious services was the responsibility
of the rabbis and the administrators of the community had to
maintain the public worship, provide kosher food and attend to
the ill, the dead and their families. The bet din, a court with expert
judges who acted according to Jewish law and with the monarch’s
consent, had the right to pass sentence between Jews in civil and
criminal suits.

The Jews, called “the king’s purse and treasure”, were required to
pay taxes: each vear the king obliged them to pay a set amount.
This financial contribution was distributed by the sceretarics of
the aljama among the heads of families. To simplify the collection
of this tax, collects (groups of Calls) were created, which also had
to pay right of purveyance and special taxes when the king needed
money for a war or coronation festivities. The Jews also maintained
and cared for the lions and other wild animals owned by the king.
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er in thé Call

In the year 1079 the Jewish population numbered about seventy
families, whereas by the 14th century it comprised some four
thousand people. The growth in the number of families and the
arrival of Jews who had been expelled from France made it necessary
to expand the Jewish quarter, so the Call Menor or Minor Call was
created.

The synagogue formed the centre of the community; it was the
schola, a eentre of study and prayer, and the place where the most
important feasts were held - circumeision, Bar Mitsvah, the public
celebration of the Sabbath, Rosh Hashanah (New Year), Shabuot
(Pentecost), Sukkot (Feast of Tabernacles), Pesach (Passover),
Hanukah (Festival of Lights), Tischa B’Av (Commemoration of
the Temple) and Purim (Feast of Queen Esther) - and it was also
the place where assemblies and meetings were held, where news
was announced, where trials took place, where the laws were
applied, ete.

With respect to their working life, most of the Jews in the Call
were craftsmen and workmen, such as silk veil weavers, book
binders, goldsmiths, coral merchants, shoemakers, money-lenders,
inn-keepers and merchants, Some of the Jews here also devoted
themselves to the cultivation of their land while others stood out
as physicians, who were highly esteemed by all. Many held political
offices within their community, like that of secretary, or administrative
offices, like those of porter, undertaker, or xokhet, who sacrificed
animals for food. Likewise, some people held religious offices, such
as rabbis and the teachers of the Talmudic school. Because of their
knowledge, the foremost members of the Jewish community formed
part of the royal court and held such general public offices as bailiff,
tax collector or ambassador, Lastly, it should be noted that numerous
Jews made a name for themselves in the cultural world as philosophers,
men of letters, seientists and translators, many of whose works
have passed down to our days. Notable among these people was
Rabbi Solomon Ben Adret (13th century), one of the most important
figures of Catalan and universal Judaism and founder of the Talmudic
school of Barcelona.

Anillos de oro encontrados en el aiio 1945 en las primeras excavaciones de la
necropolis de Montjuic. Uno conserva una peguena esmeralda, el otro ha perdido
l1a piedra, y el tercero tiene una inscripcién hebrea: «Entre todas las mujeres,
Astruga sea bendecidan, Astruga era un nombre muy corriente entre las judias
barcelonesas. Siglos xur-xiv

Gold rings found in 1945 in the initial excavations of the neeropolis on Montjuic.
One ring still has a little emerald while another ring’s stone has been lost. There

is a third ring with a Hebrew inscription: “Amongst all women, blessed he Astruga”.
Astruga was a very eomnion name among the Jewish women of Barcelona,
13th-14th centuries




In the first stage of the Jews presence in Barcelona, the Jewish
and Christian communities maintained good relations and ran
joint businesses, while the count-kings entrusted Jews with such
public offices as royal bailiff, tax collector or ambassador.

At the Fourth Lateran Council (1215) diverse provisions against
e Jews were approved (control of loans, obligation to wear badges
i on their clothing...). In accordance with these provisions, King
James | recommended the use of the distinctive, the interest on
loans was set at 20%, and Jews were forbidden from holding public
offices that would entail any authority over Christians (royal
bailitfs...). ITowever, except for the provision relating to the interest
as di ol ] nplant ? on loans, none of the rules came to be enforced. Later, in 1268,
iime I dispe 1 tOr ‘ ) rcelon James T dispensed all the Jews of Barcelona’s aljama from wearing
\ de alo les recor 3 11 edondz the badge; all he did was to recommend that they wear the round
cape on going out from the city.

uencia ¢ ¢ ran fu ‘ Another consequence of the Fourth Lateran Council was the

liana e igse separe enclosure of the Calls, which meant that the Christian population

became separated from the Jewish community. In 1275, however,

I il 105 ] d Pope Gregory X reminded James 1 of the need to create city quarters

1o ! reserved for the Jews, which indicates that this provision had not

previously been enacted. Likewise, in 1285 King Peter 1T promised

the noblemen that no Jew would hold the office of bailiff and

confirmed the promise that no Jew would hold an office entailing |

any authority over Christians. From that moment on, the tax

pressure on the aljamas incereased, as did the pressure of the
Chureh’s doctrines against the Jews.

The arrival of the predicant orders (Dominicans and Franciscans)
and their authorization to preach inside the synagogues led to |
diverse riots, mainly due to the fanatics who accompanied the |
friars and caused disturbances, up to the point that King Peter |
ordered his magistrates to forbid the entrance of Christians into |
tenter i the synagogues, except for three or four “good men”. He also asked
the Franciscans who sought to convert the Jews, not to do so with
threats or violence, but by persuasion, and he asked the Jews to
listen to the predications and to refrain from the use of outrageous
language with respect to the friars and the Christian faith.

Objetos procedentes de las excavaciones arqueoldgicas realizadas en Barcelona,
donde se han encontrado objetos propios de la comunidad judia junto con otros
comunes de la época. Vemos un fragmento de una olla con la incripcién melaj (sal)
y otro fragmento de una lampara de pie multiple en forma de copa. Siglo xm.

Pieces from archacological excavations carried out in Barcelona, where objects
belonging specifically to the Jewish community have been found, together with
others from the common culture of the times. A piece of a pot with the inseription
melakl (salt) and a fragment of a cup-shaped lamp with a multiple feet may be seen.
13th century.
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Dos fragmentos de lamparas (khanukiyya) del siglo xut usadas en la fiesta de las
Luces (Khanuka). Objetos procedentes de excavaciones arqueolégicas realizadas

en Barcelona, donde se han encontrado objetos propios de la comunidad judia junto
con otros comunes de la época.

Two fragments of lamps (hanukiyyah) from the 13th century, used in the Festival
of Lights (Hanukah). These pieces were found in archaeological excavations in
Barcelona, where objects belonging specifieally to the Jewish community have been
found, together with others from the common culture of the times:

The plague epidemic known as the Black Death gave rise to the
calumny that the Jews were poisoning the water, which caused
violence to break out. On Saturday 17th of May 1348, the Call was
assaulted and several Jews were killed. King Peter asked the pope
to make an official statement declaring that the accusations against
the Jews were lies, and Clement VI issued two papal bulls to this
clfect.

The Bareelona Disputation. At the request of the preaching friars,

“in 1263 King James [ called and presided over a religious disputation

at his Barcelona palace between Moshe ben Nahman, or Nahmanides,
the rabbi of Girona, on behalf of the Jews, and Friar Pau Cristia,
a converted Jew, on behalf of the Christians. In addition to the
king, present at this event were Saint Raymond of Penyafort and
many other figures. The debate on the two religions lasted several
days and dealt with diverse aspeets, such as the coming of the
Messiah. This debate was considered of great importance throughout
Europe and Latin and Hebrew versions of it have heen preserved,
although naturally enough they differ with respect to its outcome.
The consequence of the Disputation, however, was the censure
and burning of ITebrew books, the obligation to listen to the preaching
of the Dominicans, and Moshe ben Nahman's exile to Jerusalem.

The Assault of 1391. At the end of the 14th century, a very eritical
situation arose in the city because of the economic downturn, the
various social movements that were unfolding and the municipal
crises, forming a combination of circumstances in which a mere
spark was cnough to cause violence to break out with respect to
the religious minorities. The detonating factor of the riot was the
preaching of the arch-deacon of Ecija, which was the direct cause
of the attacks on the Jewish quarters of Seville and Andalusia at
large. The anti-Jewish movement spread throughout Spain and
reached Catalonia as well, where almost all the Calls were attacked.
Barcelona’s Call was assaulted on the 5th and 7th of August 1391.
Some three hundred Jews were killed, others were baptised and
some fled. Properties were attacked as well and not only those of
the Jews: the Bailiff's House was assaulted as well. Despite the
king’s attempts to restore a Call (in the area of the Minor Call), it
was never again restored. In the year 1401, the king issued a
privilege by which Barcelona would not come to have a Jewish
quarter again.




los barrios del Call

Que el Call fuese un espacio cerrado no significa
necesariamente que los judios viviesen aislados. En
Montjuic, el monte de los Judios, ademéas del
cementerio, poseian ftierras de cultivo y algunas
casas o0 torres. En el llano de Barcelona tenian
muchas tierras, principalmente vinas, huertos, cam-
pos de cultivo y arboles frutales; algunas de estas
tierras debian de ser de cultivo propio v otras pren-
das de prestamos. Las zonas del llano donde tenian
mas propledades eran, ofras, Magoria,
Bederrida, Les Corts, al pie de Collserola, los alrede-
dores de Rec Comtal... Tambien tenian casas y obra-
dores en la plaza de Sant Jaume y puestos en el mer
cado de la plaza del Blat. Alrededor del Miracle (el
actual espacio de la calle del Paradis, donde habia
estado el femplo romano), en el siglo x1 vivian los
judios monederos Bonhom, Enees y David, en un
espacio que recuerda una zona residencial y que
mas tarde guedo fuera del recinto del Call Mayor.

entre

En la Barcelona medieval habia deos barries judios:
el Call Mayor y el Call Menor, dicho también de
sanahuja o de Angela. No estaban comunicados
entre si, pero creemos ¢ue cuando se comenzo la
urbanizacion de las calles de los Banys Nous, de la
Boqueria y de Avinyo, es decir, fras la apertura del
mure romano, la comunicacion fue mucho mas direc-
ta. En medio de las dos juderias estaba el Castell
Nou (Castillo Nuevo). Y tambien quedo equidistante
entre los dos barrios el edificio de los Banys Nous o
Banos Nuevos, gue eran publicog v no restringidos
por causas religiosas, raciales o de género.

14

e ——

the quarters of the Call

The tact that the Gall was an enclosed place did not
necessarily mean that the Jews lived in isolatiomn. On
Montjuie, or Mount of Jews, in addition to the cemetery
the Jews possessed erop lands and some houses. On the
plain of Barcelona they had many plots, mainly of vine-
vards, vegetable gardens, cultivated fields and fruit
trees; some of these plots must have been their owin
while others formed securities, The areas on the plain
where they had the most properties were, among
others, Magoria, Bederrida, Les Corts, the foot of
Collserola, the area round the Count's Channel (today
known as Rec Comtal), ete. They also had houses and
workshops at Placa de Sant Jaume and stalls at the
market of Plaga del Blat., Around El Miracle (the place
where Carrer del Paradis now stands, where the Roman
temple had been loeated), in the 11th century there
lived the Jewish money-changers Bonhom, Ences and
David, in a setting that recalls a residential area and
that would later be left outside the precinet of the
Major @all.

In the medieval Barcelona there were two Jewish quar-
ters: the Call Major or Major Call, and the Call Menor or
Minor Call, also ealled the Call d'En Sanahuja or Call de
N’Angela. They were not connected to one another but
it is believed that when the urban development began of
Carrer dels Banys Nous, Carrer de la Bogueria and
Carrer d’Avinyo, that is to say, when these streets cut
through the old Roman wall, the connection was much
more direct. Between the two Calls was the Castell Nou
or New Castle. The building called the Banys Nous or
New Baths, which were public and unrestricted by rea-
son of religion, race or gender, may also be considered
to stand adjacent to the two Galls.




el Call Mayor

El Call Mayor ocupaba el cuadrante noroeste de la cindad romana.
De la urbanizacion romana se conservan indicios de la muralla en
el interior de las casas situadas entre las calles de los Bany Nous
y del Arc de Sant Rameon del Call. Las calles tomanas conservadas
son las de Sant Domenec vy Sant Honorat, antignos decumani minori;
la calle de la Volta, actuales calle de Sant Sever y bajada de Santa
Eulalia; un antiguo cardo minimus, y la calle del Call, el antiguo
cardo maximus que iba a la puerta romana v que en cierto momento
fue desviado y adoptd la forma que hoy conserva.

_ Es posible encontrar indicios de otro cardo minimus, hoy desaparecido,
v otros callejones medievales.

Los limites del Call Mayor eran la calle del Call y el Castell Nou &l
sur; la calle de Sant Honorat, mas exactamente la linea de casas
entre Sant Honorat v la calle del Bishe, al este; la calle de Sant
Sever y la bajada de Santa Eulalia hasta el muro romano al norte,
y una linea medianera entre las calles del Arc de Sant Ramon del
Call v de los Banys Nous al oeste. Sin embargo, a mediados del
siglo xin el rey autorizo abrir puertas y ventanas en la muralla
romana, y los limites se expandieron con la urbanizacion de las
calles de Avinyo y dels Banys Nous.

The Call Major or Major Call occupied the northwest sector of the
Roman city. From the Roman urban development of Barcelona
there remain vestiges of the wall inside the houses between Carrer
dels Banys Nous and Carrer de I'Are de Sant Ramon del Call. The
Av. Catedral Roman streets that have been preserved are those of Sant Doménec
and Sant ITonorat, once the decumani minori; Carrer de la Volta,
the present-day Carrer de Sant Sever and Baixada de Santa Eulalia;
a former cardo minimus, and Carrer del Call, the old cardo
mecimus that stretched from the Roman gate and that was diverted
at a certain moment in time, adopting the form that it still has
today.

There are also traces of another cardo minimus, now disappeared,
and other medieval alleys.

The limits of the Major Call were Carrer del Call and Castell Nou
to the south; Carrer de Sant Honorat (and more precisely the line

~of houses between Carrer de Sant Honorat and Carrer del Bishe),
to the east; Carrer de Sant Sever and Baixada de Santa Fulalia as
far as the Roman wall, to the north, and a median line between
Carrer de PArc de Sant Ramon del Call and Carrer dels Banys
Nous, to the west; in the middle of the 13th eentury, however, the
king authorized gates and windows to be opened in the Roman
wall and the boundaries were extended with the urban development
of Carrer d’Avinyé and Carrer dels Banys Nous,

Sant Honorat
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he entrance ot the'Major Call

Al observar esta entrada al Call, vista desde la plaza de Sant Jaume, el lector debe
hacer un esfuerzo para imaginarse el portal que cerraba el barrio. Ni la plaza ni el
inicio de la calle de Sant Honorat tienen la misma imagen ahora gque durante los
siglos medievales.

On observing this entrance to the Call, as seen from Plaga de Sant Jaume, the reader
must make an effort to imagine the gate that once elosed off the quarter, Neither the
square of Sant Jaume nor the start of Carrer de Sant Honorat have the same
appearance as in medieval times.
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If one stands at the outlet of Carrer de Sant Honorat, with one’s
back to Placa de Sant Jaume, one is approximately in the place
where one of the entrance gates to the Clall was once found. Tt
should be recalled, however, that in the medieval period this setting
was quite different, since neither the Palace of the Generalitat nor
the City Hall had yet been built. In fact, Plaga de Sant Jaume was

just a small widening between today’s Carrer de la Llibreteria and

Carrer del Call, where the church of Sant Jaume (St James) and
other buildings were located.

Looking to the left one would see the Castell Nou, a medieval
fortress built over the Roman gate, oceupying the present-day
block between Carrer del Call, Carrer d'Avinyd and Carrer de
Ferran, The last vestiges of this castle, also known as the Tower
of Hercules and Cato’s Tower, disappeared when Carrer de Ferran
was built in the middle of the 19th cencury. Carrer del Call formed
a little square at the foot of the eastle, where the Jewish baker’s
was located.

The other entrance gate will be seen later: it was found at the start
of Carrer de Sant Doménece, on the corner of Carrer del Call.

It has always been said that the Call was enclosed by a wall, but
no documentary or archacological evidence of it has ever been
found. The only existing documentary reference alludes to a tower
that stood over the gate and was demolished by order of the
councillors in the year 1392.
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Fachada lateral del actual Palau de la Generalitat, antes una noble casa judia,
la tinica de la calle que tenia salida a la calle del Bisbe.

Side fagade of today’s Palace of the Generalitat, originally a stately Jewish mansion
and the only house in the street with an exit to Carver del Bisbe.
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Now let us continue along Carrer de Sant [Tonorat. The houses
standing on the right side of the street bounded on the houses of
Carrer del Bisbe and formed the eastern limit of the gquarter, Only
one of all the houses had access to both streets: the house of
Bonjuha Cabrit, which had previously been that of the great poet
Moses Nathan and which would be, precisely, the one that would
be purchased by the deputies of the Generalitat when the Call
disappeared in order to establish the seat of the government there.
It is the house that projects from the line of the street. Beside it,
now walled up, there was an alley that had no way out onto Carrer
del Bisbe and at the rear of which there was the Minor Synagogue
and other buildings. Near the entrance there was a public fountain,
built in the mid-14th century to spare the Jews from having to go
to the fountain at Plaga de Sant Jaume for water.

At the beginning of the 20th century, when reform works were to
be carried out on the Courtyard of the Orange Trees at the Palace
of the Generalitat, some vestiges were foumd that were immediately
interpreted as being the remains of a wall and some fortifications,
and it was considered that they must have belonged to the enclosing
wall of the quarter. A new reading, however, shows that these
vestiges belong to buildings that were erected here between the
11th and the 14th centuries.

On the left-hand side of the street, specifically along the stretch
that runs to Carrer de la Fruita, some archaeological excavations
have been carried out recently. The conclusions of that study have
not yet been published but they provide some interesting facts,
including the existence here, in medieval times, of warchouses
with a substantial number of large silos, which makes one to
reconsider the use of this place; and also the existence of a wall
that crossed Carrer de la Fruita, a strect which was not, consequently,
open at both ends as it is now. This could be the foundation wall
of a building.
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These two formed a single street, called Carrer de la Volta, which \
ended at the Roman wall. Tt was consequently a dead-end alley
that was not opened up until the year 1394,

The area round Carrer de Sant Sever, near the Cathedral, underwent
a great change of appearance in the 17th century with the construetion
of the rear part of the Palace of the Generalitat, on the one hand,
and the construction of the church of Sant Sever, on the other.

In the building at Carrer de Sant Sever number 5 on the corner
of Carrer de Sant Felip Neri, archaeological investigations have
been carried out that have confirmed the existence of a domus
from the late Roman period, a press from the 9th-11th centuries,
vestiges of buildings from the 13th-14th centuries including a
possible dismantled exchange building belonging to the first half
of the 13th century, wells, three interconnected silos and vestiges
from the 18th-19th centuries. In recent times, taking advantage
of the open space at Plaga de Sant Felip Neri, the facade of this
building overloaking the square was re-built with re-used material,
while transferring the Shoemakers’ Guildhouse here.

Continuing down this same street, one may stop before number
3 of Baixada de Santa Eulalia, where it has been possible to study
an interesting medieval building abutting on the Roman wall and
which hollowed out the wall's interior. This building’s side fagade
overlooked a street that no longer exists, although it may be seen
from the plot plans to be formed by a walled-in stretch, a stretch
preserved as a courtyard, and another walled-in stretch which
opens onto a large courtyard facing Sant Felip Neri. A stone tablet
with a Hebrew inseription, in re-used building material, was found
in the floor of this building, which was erected after 1391,

Estas calles, que conforman el limite norte del barrio, quedaban cortadas

a la izquierda por el mure romano y a la derecha por las propiedades del obispo.
Las casas judias no llegaban a la actual plaza de Sant Felip Neri, que era dominio
del obispo.

Forming the northern limit of the quarter, these streets were blocked off on the left
by the Roman wall and on the right by the Bishop's properties. The Jewish houses
did not reach today’s Placa de Sant Felip Neri, which belonged to the bishop.

23




carrer de Sant Domeénee del Call

Era la calle principal del Call Mayor, donde se hallaban la sinagoga, la carniceria
y otros destacados edificios. Al norte la calle formaba una plazoleta, hoy
desaparecida, y al sur se encontraba el portal principal del barrio.

This was the main street of the Major Call, where the synagogue, the butcher’s shop
and other important buildings were located. To the north the street formed

a little square, which has now disappeared, and to the south was the main gate

of the quarter.
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Also called Carrer de la Carnisseria or Carrer de la Sinagoga Major,
this was the most important street in the Jewish quarter.

Barcelona’s Call had various synagogues: the Great Synagogue, the
Minor Synagogue, the French Synagogue and some that were built
by private persons with roval authorization.

The Great Synagogue was located in the interior of the block
between Carrer de Sant Doménee, Carrer de Marlet, Carrer de
I'Are de Sant Ramon del Call and today’s Placeta de Manuel Ribé.
It had three entrance doors: at Carrer de Marlet, at an alley that
no longer exists and that started at number 8 in Carrer de PAre
de Sant Ramon del Call (the door that is now walled up), and the
present day entrance at number 9 in Carrer de Sant Doménec.

At the start of the street was the entrance doorway, the porter’s
house and the Jewish butcher’s shop which, though not a public
institution, was the place where kosher meat was sold. This street
took the name it bears today because the assault on the Call
occurred on 5 August 1391, St Dominie’s day.

Here we must refute the existence of a Dominiean convent within
the limits of the Call, and all the legends that have arisen around it.




cal;rer ae l’Arc de Sant Ramon del Call

This street follows the inner line of the Roman wall, hidden among
the houses of this street and of Carrer dels Banys Nous. It has a
very irregular layout in the shape of a “4”. At the end of the street
there was once an alley that stretched to Baixada de Santa Eulalia.

Entering Carrer de I'Are de Sant Ramon del Call at Placeta-de
Manuel Ribé, one sees an old mansion on the corner. It is a building
from the 16th century in which architectural elements from previous
periods were used. In its main fagade there is a blind arch. This
building has been acquired by the City Council and is now awaiting
excavations and rehabilitations that may possibly provide us with
further information.

I'rom existing written records, we know that there may have been
a synagogue and some cold baths at this street, but they have not
vet been loecated.

This street had no way out onto Carrer del Call but was connected
directly to the New Castle or Castell Nou by a raised passage. The
arch that lent its name to the street may sill be seen in photographs
from the end of the 19th century.
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No es ésta una calle recta, sino que hace unos zigzags que desorientan: las casas
de la izquierda se apoyan sobre el muro romano, A la derecha destaca este edificio,
sede del futuro Centro de Interpretacion del Call.

Por el sur no tenia salida a la calle del Call y se comunicaba con el Castell Nou

por un puente elevado.

This street has a zigzag layout that can be confusing, The houses on the left abut on
the Roman wall. Standing out on the right is this building, which is to accommodate
the future Interpretation Centre of the Call.

To the south this street had no way out to Carrer del Call and it was connected

to the New Castle by an elevated bridge.

27




carrer de Marlet

ndo hacia la calle

e umnadgil

Es quiza la calle mas conocida del barrio por haber conservado encastrada en
la fachada de la casa num, 1 esta inscripcion, acompaiiada de otra del siglo xix
y una actual. Todo ello para informarnos de que en este espacio se hallaba la
Fundacion de Samuel Ha-Sardi: hospital para pobres, escuela, lugar de acogida...

This is perhaps the best known street in the quarter beeause the fagade of the
house at number 1 preserves this ancient inseribed plaque, together with one from
the 19th century and a contemporary one. The plague states that this was the site
of a foundation by Samuel Ha-Sardi, containing a hospital for the poor, a school
and a hostelry.
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This is one of the best-known streets of Barcelona’s Call because
of the stone tablet embedded in the wall of the house at number
1. This house was built in the year 1820 and amid the rubble from
the previous structure was found this stone, which the owners
decided to set in the same place where it had been located before.
They also added another stone tablet with an incorrect translation,
The following is believed to be the correct translation: “Pious
Foundation by Rabbi Samuel Ha-Sardi; his lamp burns forever”,
Carrer de Marlet has an irregular layout that contrasts with the
straight lines of the Roman urban development.

In the stretch nearest Carrer de Sant Doménee del Call, there is
a low doorway that leads to a passageway that must have been one
of the entrances to the synagogue.

Continuing towards Carrer de la Fruita, the setting allows one to
imagine what the streets of the Call were actually like: small,
narrow, with bends and with houses that seem to bar one’s way.

—
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Un edificio, los Bafios Nuevos, dieron
nombre a esta calle que bordea el muro
romano por su parte exterior. El edificio
de los bafnos no se conserva, pero el
nombre de la calle mantiene su recuerdo.

The Banys Nous or New Baths building
lent its name to this street, which runs
along the outside of the Roman wall.
The huilding has disappeared but the
street’s name preserves its memory.

Carrer dels Banys Nous takes its name from a speeial building that
characterised it for a long time: the Banys Nous or New Baths,
which were the medieval city’s public baths. They were situated
at the corner of this street with Carrer de la Boqueria, on the site
that is now occupied by a building with some notable Baroque
sgraftito work.

The baths were originally founded in the year 1160 by Abraham
Bonastrue, who was associated with count Ramon Berenguer. The
count had granted some land for the baths outside the Roman wall,
beneath the New Castle, where water abounded, and Bonastrue
huilt and equipped them. According to the contract, the faqi was
to operate the baths and he and the count would each receive a
third of the profits. Bonastruc’s sons came to scll their rights to
Guillem Durfort.

The building was made according to the Arabie tradition of bath-
houses, but with Romanesque techniques and decoration. It had
diverse halls and appurtenances, including one designed to be the
mikeah. The most important halls were the hall of repose, with a
central pavilion and dome, and the halls of the steam baths. The
building remained standing, although it was no longer used, hidden
beneath the house above it, until its demolition in 1835. The City
History Museum of Barcelona preserves maps and drawings of
baths as well as a model of the building,

Further up the street one comes to number 16, where archaeological
investigations have revealed a substantial streteh of the external
tace of the Roman wall. It is preserved in its full height, from the
foundations below to the watch path at the top. Also discovered
were fragments of two square towers and an arch built in the [3th
century to join them along this street.

The document from the year 1258 granting the Jew Astrue Bonsenyor
a royal permit to break through the city wall of Bareelona, states
what Astrue may do with his houses, mentioning windows, beams,
doors, arches and vaults, which bring to mind the digs at number
16 and suggests the possibility of interpreting this place as the
houses of Astruc Bonsenyor. The rambling mansion extended as
far as Carrer de I'Are de Sant Ramon del Call.
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‘alle del
carrer del Call

La calle que da nombre al barrio nos sorprende por su animacién y su forma;
el muro romano que sobresale de una fachada nos recuerda su origen: un callején
cerrado, sin salida, que conducia al barrio de los judios.

This street lent its name to the whole quarter. It is a very lively place with
a surprising layout: the Roman wall projecting from a fagade recalls its origin
as an enclosed dead-end alley that led to the Jewish quarter,
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This is the street that lends its name to the quarter and, by extension,
to many other Catalan Jewish quarters. According to the records,
this street led to the Jewish quarter and formed its southern limit.
It was also known as Carrer dels Torners.

As previously mentioned, its straight lavout as a Roman street was
diverted by the walling up of the Roman gate of the New Castle.
At an unknown moment in time, the Roman wall was opened in
the manner of a tunnel and Carrer del Call then came to be extended
as far as Carrer dels Banys Nous. In witness to this circumstance,
a fragment of the town wall still survives in the fagade of the house
at number 5.

The houses at numbers 5 and 7 are both medieval and have been
restored in the modern period.

The crossing of Carrer del Call, Carrer d’Avinyé, Carrer de la
Boqueria and Carrer dels Banys Nous has been known as the
“Crossroads of the Call”.




el Call Menor

Es conocido también como Call de N'Angela o Call d'En Sanahuja,
nombres que hacen referencia a propietarios de los solares. El
barrio es una urbanizacion que fue planeada en el siglo xm, formada
por cinco manzanas, con una sinagoga v una plaza, y situada al
pie del Castell Nou por su parte externa, es decir, en el exterior
de la muralla romana.

El Call Menor no tenia comunicacion directa con el Mayor. Sus
limites eran las calles de la Boqueria, de Rauric, de la Lleona y de
Avinyo. Tenia dos puertas, una al pie del Castell Nou, por el lado
exterior, y la otra en la calle de la Boqueria, tocando a la calle de
Rauric, que posiblemente se trata de una puerta mencionada en
el afio 1255.

La calle de la Bogueria era la calle que conducia al harrio. De ella
salian varios callejones hacia la plaza de la Trinitat (desaparecida
al abrirse la ¢alle de Ferran). Esta calle fue ocupada posteriormente
por los conversos que se establecieron con sus negocios: orfebres,
tejedores de velos, sastres, zapateros...

La calle de la Volta del Remei, entrando por Boqueria, conserva
aun una torre mecdieval del siglo xim; antiguamente se habia lamado
calle del Arc d'en Sanahuja. Si se observa desde la calle de Ferran,
se ve la parte posterior de la dicha casa-torre, mucho menos
reformada que la parte anterior,

The Call Menor or Minor Call is also known as Gall de N’Angela
or Call d'En Sanahuja, the latter names referring to owners of plots
there. The neighbourhoeod is an urban development that was planned
in the 13th century and is formed by five blocks, with a synagogue
and a square, situated at the foot of the outer part of the New
Castle, that is to say, outside the city wall.

The Minor Call was not directly connected to the Major Call. Its
limits were Carrer de la Boqueria, Carrer d’en Raurie, Carrer de
la Lleona and Carrer d’Avinyé. It had two gates: one at the foot of
the outer part of the New Castle, and the other at Carrer de la
Boqueria, adjacent to CGarrer d'en Raurie, which may possibly be
the gate mentioned in a record from the year 1255,

Carrer de Ia Boqueria was the street that led to the quarter.
Diverse alleys led off from it to Plaga de la Trinitat (which disappeared
on building Garrer de Ferran). This street was occupied later by
the converted Jews who established themselves there with their
businesses: goldsmiths, veil weavers, tailors, shoemakers, ete.

Carrer de Ia Volta del Remei, on entering from Carrer de la
Boqueria, may be seen still to preserve a medieval tower-house
from the 13th century. The street had been called Carrer de U'Arc
d’en Sanahuja in former times. Looking up the street from Carrer
de Ferran, one sees the rear part of the tower-house, which has
been reformed much less than the front part.
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Jarrer de PAre de Santa Eulalia, likewise on entering from Carrer
de la Boqueria, is formed by a medieval tower-house from the
middle of the 13th century called the Tower of Santa Eulalia. A
set of alleys once stretched from Carrer de la Volta del Remei to
Carrer de I'Are de Santa Eulalia. In the part nearest Carrer de la
Boqueria, the present-day buildings still occupy the medieval plots.
In the part nearest Carrer de Ferran, on the other hand, the old
plots were reformed to a greater degree when that street was built
in the mid-19th century.

Carrer d’en Raurie was, before the 14th century, the bed of a
torrent which ran to the torrent of Vilanova dels Codols and which
was diverted to the torrent called Riera del Pi, now the street
named Carrer del Cardenal Casafias.

In the centre of the Minor Call was the square that later came to
be called Plaga de la Trinitat. It extended in front of the synagogue
and disappeared in the middle of the 19th century. The synagogue
was transtormed into the church of La Trinitat by a group of
converted Jews and was later expanded to house a convent. Today
it is the church of Sant Jaume.

The Castell Nou or New Castle was a medieval fortitication over
the Roman gate. It deteriorated with the passing of time and diverse
records mention the collapse of structures and the need to carry
out repairs. A substantial part of the castle fell down in 1553 and
the last vestiges (Cato's Tower) were demolished in 1848 when
Carrer de Ferran was built.
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Estas dos calles, el Arc de Santa Eulalia y la Volta del Remei, conservan gran parte
de su aspecto original y muestran como era una urbanizacion medieval, pese a su
truncamiento por la abertura de la calle de Ferran a mediados del siglo xix.

These two streets, Are de Santa Eulalia and Volta del Remei, preserve their original
appearance to a large extent and show what a medieval urban development was
like, even though part of it was cut off by the construction of Carrer de Ferran

in the mid-19th century.
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